Study on Valence Instabilities in Yb- and Eubased Compounds

大山,耕平

https://hdl.handle.net/2324/4474931

出版情報:九州大学,2020,博士(理学),課程博士 バージョン: 権利関係:

Study on Valence Instabilities in Yb- and Eu-based Compounds

Doctoral Thesis

Kohei Oyama Department of Physics, Graduate School of Science Kyushu University

Abstract

In some Yb- and Eu-based compounds, the valence becomes unstable and exhibits interesting physical properties such as valence fluctuation, dense Kondo effect, and non-Fermi liquid. Further, in Yb and Eu, one valence state is magnetic, while the other state is non-magnetic. Thus, the valence instability leads to magnetic instability. Especially in the Yb system, it has been pointed out that the valence instability mediates the cooper in unconventional superconductivity. In this study, we have focused on Yb and Eu compounds in which valence instability significantly contributes to physical properties.

YbPd has a cubic CsCl type structure at room temperature and ambient pressure, and Yb exhibits valence fluctuation. It undergoes phase transitions at $T_1 = 125$ K, $T_2 = 105$ K, $T_3 = 1.9$ K and $T_4 = 0.5$ K. At $T_1 = 125$ K, the cubic structure is distorted into the tetragonal one. Below T_2 , the Pd atom is displaced and forms two inequivalent Yb sites. One site is occupied by Yb³⁺, and the other site by Yb^{2.6+}. A layered valence order is realized. Yb³⁺ has a magnetic moment and exhibits magnetic order below $T_3 = 1.9$ K. However, magnetic order is suppressed with applying pressure, which is opposite to a usual Yb compound. This behavior is associated with the suppression of the valence order by pressure. Therefore, this study focuses on elucidating the magnetic structure of YbPd and how the compound behaves after the magnetic structure is suppressed by pressure.

Due to a domain structure introduced in the structural phase transition single crystal and difficulty in obtaining strain-free powder samples, the magnetic structure of YbPd was not determined. Recently, we have succeeded in synthesizing strain-free powder samples of YbPd. We have measured the powder neutron diffraction and determined the magnetic structure. It is clarified that the magnetic structure is a long-range incommensurate sinusoidal one characterized by an amplitude of the Yb³⁺ magnetic moment of 0.3 μ_B aligned in the *a* direction and propagation vector of $\mathbf{k} = (0.080, 0, 0.32)$. The small magnetic moment of Yb³⁺ suggests the Kondo effect and that Yb^{2.6+} has no magnetic moment. The magnetic structure agrees with the previously determined valence-ordered structure.

In addition, the structural and electrical behavior has been examined under high pressures at low temperatures. The structural phase transition at T_1 is suppressed continuously up to T_1 = 20K at 4.4GPa and disappears at 5 GPa. Above 5 GPa, a cubic valence fluctuation state is stabilized down to the lowest temperatures. The electrical resistivity shows the *T*-linear in wide pressure regions between 8 to 12 GPa. Similar behavior of electrical resistivity has been observed in β -YbAlB₄ and YbRh₂Si₂, where valence fluctuations cause superconductivity and quantum critical phenomena. We have found that the phenomenon, which might be related to quantum criticality, is also observed in YbPd after the valence order disappears.

In the Eu system, we have focused on the Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅, which is a new Eu-based valence transition compound. Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅ shows a valence transition at $T_v = 45$ K, but its crystal structure is quite different from that of the other Eu-based valence transition compounds (tetragonal ThCr₂Si₂ type).

We have examined the physical properties of $Eu_2Pt_6(Al_{1-x}Ga_x)_{15}$ by using various measuring techniques. With increasing Ga concentration *x*, the volume expands, and valence transition temperature decreases. We found that valence transition is suppressed, and antiferromagnetic order with the divalent state is stabilized at around x = 0.1. We observed the field-induced valence transition in the magnetization curve for x = 0, 0.05 in a pulsed high magnetic field. It is known that the valence transition field is proportional to the valence transition temperature. For $Eu_2Pt_6Al_{15}$, the proportional coefficient α is estimated to be 0.63 T/K, which is similar to that of most valence transition compounds with the tetragonal ThCr₂Si₂ type structure. These results reveal that valence transition in $Eu_2Pt_6Al_{15}$ exhibits a lot of similarities to that of the other Eu-based valence transition compounds.

In this thesis, we introduce general information and concern about 4f electron systems in chapter 1. The experimental details are shown in chapter 2. In chapter 3, the experimental results of YbPd are shown and discussed. In chapter 4, the experimental results of $Eu_2Pt_6(Al_{1-x}Ga_x)_{15}$ are shown and discussed. Finally, the conclusion is described in chapter 5.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1 Magnetism of rare-earth elements	1
1.2 Valence fluctuation, valence ordering, and valence transition	3
1.3 YbPd	8
1.3.1 YbPd	8
1.3.2 Physical Properties under pressure	11
1.3.3 Neutron diffraction studies	14
$1.4 Eu_2Pt_6X_{15} (X = Al, Ga)$	16
$1.4.1 \text{ Eu}_2 \text{Pt}_6 \text{Al}_{15}$ and $\text{Eu}_2 \text{Pt}_6 \text{Ga}_{15}$	16
1.5 Purpose of this thesis	20
2. Experimental Details	21
2.1 Sample preparation	21
2.2 Powder neutron Diffraction measurements	22
2.3 X-ray diffraction measurements under high pressure	22
2.4 Electrical resistivity measurements under high pressure	22
2.5 Magnetic Susceptibility	23
2.6 High-field magnetization process	23
2.7 X-ray Absorption Spectroscopy (XAS)	23
3. Results and Discussion on YbPd	24
3.1 Powder neutron diffraction	24
3.1.1 Powder neutron diffraction	24
3.1.2 Magnetic structure analysis	25
3.2 High-pressure measurements of YbPd	32
3.2.1 X-ray diffraction measurements under high pressure	32
3.2.2 Electrical resistivity measurements under high pressure	35
4. Results and Discussion on Eu ₂ Pt ₆ (Al _{1-x} Ga _x) ₁₅	37
4.1 Lattice parameter	37
4.2 Magnetic susceptibility	37
4.3 Electrical resistivity	38
4.4 Temperature versus Ga concentration phase diagram	40
4.5 High-field magnetization process	40
4.6 X-ray Absorption Spectroscopy	46
5. Conclusion	50
Acknowledgement	51
Reference	52

1. Introduction

1.1 Magnetism of rare-earth elements

In the rare-earth metals, 4f electrons carry the magnetic moments. Because of closed 5s and 5d orbitals existing outside of 4f orbital, 4f moments tend to behave as localized moments. Thus, the 4f electrons occupy the 4f level according to Hund's law and form total orbital momentum L and total spin momentum S. Total angular moment J is formed by spin – orbital interaction as J = L + S. On the other hand, 3d electrons carry magnetic moments in the iron group transition metals. Because 3d electrons are located at the outer shell, they are itinerant and interact directly with the nearest neighbor atoms. The features result in the freezing of angular momentum. Thus, 4f and 3d electron systems are in contrast with each other.

4f electrons are usually localized in rare-earth ions. However, they are hybridized with conduction bands and show instabilities in a few rare-earth-based compounds. There are two kinds of interactions between 4f electrons and conduction electrons. One is the Kondo effect, and the other is the Rudermann – Kittel – Kasuya – Yosida (RKKY) interaction. In the former one, 4f moments are screened by spins of conduction electrons. The Kondo effect was first discovered and revealed in metallic alloys containing dilute magnetic impurities. At low temperatures, the randomly arranged magnetic impurities scatter conduction electrons, which leads to an increase in electrical resistivity with decreasing temperature [1].

However, in rare-earth-based compounds, the Kondo effect occurs even in periodically arranged 4f moment systems. This is because 4f electrons exist inside closed 5s- and 5d-shells and cannot directly interact with those of adjacent atoms. The periodically arranged 4f moments screened by the Kondo effect are no longer scatterers of conduction electrons. Thus, with decreasing temperature, the electrical resistivity once increases due to the conventional Kondo effect and subsequently decreases. [2]

The latter one (RKKY interaction) gives magnetic order and is an indirect interaction between 4f moments mediated by conduction electrons. The conduction electrons polarized by one 4f moment interact with the other 4f moments of rare-earth atoms. [3 - 5] It is well-known that these two interactions often compete with each other in the system. Doniach summarized the competition between the Kondo effect and the RKKY interaction as a phase diagram (Doniach diagram [6]), as shown in Fig. 1.1. The vertical axis stands for temperature, and the horizontal axis the magnitude of hybridization between 4f electrons and conduction electrons. At the most competitive point, called a quantum critical point (QCP), magnetic and/or valence fluctuation

are enhanced, which leads to such exotic physical phenomena as unconventional superconductivity in CeCu₂Si₂ [7], valence fluctuation, and unconventional superconductivity in β -YbAlB₄ and non-Fermi liquid behavior in YbRh₂Si₂ [8, 9]. The Doniach phase diagram has been successful in explaining the behavior of Ce- and Yb-based compounds uniformly. For example, the *T* – *P* phase diagram of the Ce system is well agreed with Doniach's phase diagram, as shown in Fig. 1.2 for CeIn₃ [10].



Figure 1.1 Doniach phase diagram. J_{c-f} is an exchange interaction between conduction electron and 4f electron and $D(\varepsilon_F)$ is density of state of conduction electrons at Fermi energy.



Figure 1.2. Temperature – pressure phase diagram of CeIn₃ [10]. Solid black, open circle and cross indicate a Néel temperature T_N . Inverted triangle means the crossover temperature to Fermi Liquid behavior. Open diamonds are a critical temperature of superconductivity scaled by factor of 10.

1.2 Valence fluctuation, valence ordering, and valence transition

The lanthanoid atoms usually have such an electron configuration as $[Xe]4f^n5s^25p^6(5d,6s)^3$. Here, 5d or 6s electrons, which are called valence electrons, contribute to electrical conductivity and chemical bonds in metallic compounds. The three-valence-electron state is called a trivalent state. In some Eu-, Yb-, or Sm-based compounds, the lanthanoid atoms sometimes have a $[Xe]4f^{n+1}5s^25p^6(5d,6s)^2$ configuration, which is called divalent state. When these two valence states nearly degenerate at Fermi energy, the valence fluctuates with time and space between these two states. This phenomenon is called valence fluctuation. In some valence fluctuating compounds, the fluctuation stops with decreasing temperature, and two valence states are arranged regularly, namely valence order. In the valence fluctuation, conduction electrons are hopping among rare-earth atoms, which yields good electrical conductivity. In contrast, in the valence order, the conduction electrons are localized at rare-earth atoms, which results in an increase in electrical resistivity. The valence order is also observed in some 3d transition metal oxide systems such as Fe₃O₄ and Nd_{0.5}Sr_{0.5}MnO₃ [11, 12].

Eu-based intermediate valence compounds often show a large change in Eu valence with temperature. In Eu-based compounds (n = 6), Eu ions usually have either a magnetic divalent state (4f⁷) with a larger volume or a non-magnetic trivalent state (4f⁶) with a smaller volume.

According to the third law of thermodynamics, the entropy should be zero at 0 K. When magnetic exchange interaction is relatively weak, some divalent compounds show no magnetic order but valence transition to the non-magnetic trivalent state at low temperatures so that magnetic entropy is approached zero.

The valence transition is also seen when external pressure is applied to some divalent compounds. The external pressure reduces a unit cell volume, which leads to a smaller trivalent state. Figure 1.3 shows the temperature-pressure phase diagram in Eu-based compounds that exhibit a pressure-induced valence transition. At ambient pressure, the magnetic order is realized at low temperatures. The ordering temperature increases slightly with pressure, which results from a slight increase in the RKKY interaction due to a slight decrease in distance between Eu ions. As the pressure is further increased, the magnetic order suddenly disappears at a critical pressure, which is accompanied by the valence transition. Above the critical pressure, a non-magnetic ground state with an almost trivalent state is realized. As the temperature is increased, the trivalent state is changed sharply to a divalent state, which corresponds to valence transition. The valence transition, which is of first order just above the critical pressure, is shifted to higher temperatures with increasing pressure. Above a critical end point (CEP), the valence transition becomes continuous. The characteristics of the T - P phase diagram are different from those of the Doniach phase diagram, which explains the behavior of most Ce- or Yb-based compounds.

In Eu-based compounds, valence transition is also induced by a magnetic field, which is called field-induced valence transition. Such valence transitions are mainly found in Eu-based compounds with the tetragonal ThCr₂Si₂ type structure and the hexagonal ZrBeSi type structure.



Figure 1.3. T - P phase diagram of Eu-based compounds. Critical End Point (CEP) is the point where valence transition becomes crossover from the first-order transition.

We introduce some examples which show valence order and/or valence transition associated with 4f electron as follows.

Yb₄As₃ is a valence fluctuating compound at high temperatures, which crystallizes in the cubic anti-Th₃P₄ structure (Fig.1.4). It undergoes valence order transition at around T = 300 K accompanied by a structural phase transition. In the valence order state, the Yb³⁺ ions are arranged along one direction of <1 1 1>, and the other Yb ions are in a divalent state. As a result, the cubic structure is distorted into the trigonal structure. Figure 1.5 shows the temperature dependence of the electrical resistivity of Yb₄As₃. The electrical resistivity shows a sudden increase with decreasing temperature when the valence order takes place. [13]



Figure 1.4. Crystal structure of Yb_4As_3 (anti-Th₃P₄ type structure) [13]. In a valence ordered state, Yb^{3+} ions are located at Yb I site and Yb^{2+} ions at Yb II



Figure 1.5. Temperature dependence of electrical resistivity of Yb₄As₃. [13]

(2+)-(3+)-. [15] The magnetic Eu²⁺ layers exhibit antiferromagnetic order at 7 K. The anomalies due to the transitions are observed in the electrical resistivity, as shown in Fig. 1.7. [16]



Figure 1.6. Crystal structure of EuTX. The purple circle denotes Eu, the orange one is T atom, and the light green one is X atom.



Figure 1.7. Temperature dependence of electrical resistivity of EuPtP. [14]

EuT₂Si₂ (T = Cu, Pd, Ir) compounds, which crystalize in the tetragonal ThCr₂Si₂-type structure, exhibit temperature-dependent Eu valence. [17, 18] For example, in EuPd₂Si₂, the Eu mean valence drastically but continuously increases from 2.3 to 2.8 at around 170 K with decreasing temperature, as shown in Fig. 1.8 [19]. At around 170 K, the Eu valence fluctuates between Eu²⁺ and Eu³⁺ on the time scale of $10^{-11} \sim 10^{-13}$ sec. Substitution of Au for Pd lowers the valence

transition temperature and switches the continuous valence change to a first-order valence transition [20]. When a magnetic field is applied to the trivalent state at the lowest temperature, the Eu valence is varied to the divalent state, accompanied by a jump of the magnetization as shown in Fig. 1.9. [21]. The Zeeman energy lowers the divalent level to the Fermi level.



Figure 1.8. Temperature variation of Eu mean valence in EuPd₂Si₂[19].



Figure 1.9. High-field magnetization of EuPd₂Si₂ and Eu(Pd_{0.95}Pt_{0.05})Si₂ [21].

1.3 YbPd

1.3.1 YbPd

YbPd, which crystallizes in the cubic CsCl-type structure (Fig. 1.10(a)), is a valence fluctuating compound at room temperature. It undergoes four phase transitions at $T_1 = 125$ K,

 $T_2 = 105$ K, $T_3 = 1.9$ K, and $T_4 = 0.5$ K [22]. Figure 1.11 shows the temperature dependence of the electrical resistivity ρ of YbPd. The anomalies associated with $T_1 \sim T_4$ are seen in contrast to no anomalies of ρ in LuPd. Figure 1.12 shows the difference in specific heat between YbPd and a non-magnetic reference sample LuPd as a function of temperature. Sharp peaks are observed at T_1 and T_2 , and λ -shaped anomaly is seen at T_3 , which means transitions at T_1 and T_2 are of first order and that at T_3 is of second order [22]. Figure 1.13 displays the temperature dependence of ac magnetic susceptibility in the low-temperature regions. The susceptibility shows a kink at T_3 and an anomaly with a thermal hysteresis at T_4 [22]. Figure 1.14 depicts Mössbauer effect spectra measured by Bonville *et al.* Below T_3 , we can see the superposition of singlet and split subspectra in an intensity ratio of 48 : 52, which means that 48% of Yb ions are non-magnetic and that 52% of Yb ions perform magnetic order below T_3 [23].

According to recent X-ray diffraction studies, the cubic structure is distorted into a tetragonal one at T_1 [24, 25]. Below T_2 , Pd atoms at a body-centered position are displaced toward alternately positive and negative *c*-directions [24, 25]. As a result, a two-fold structure along the *c*-axis is a new unit cell, in which two inequivalent Yb sites are yielded, as shown in Fig. 1.10(b). A resonant X-ray diffraction study by Takahashi *et al.* shows that Yb³⁺ ions occupy one site and Yb^{2.6+} ions the other site, which results in valence order [25]. Furthermore, they also have proposed incommensurate valence order with $\mathbf{k} = (0.07 \ 0.07 \ 1/2)$ between T_1 and T_2 [25].



Figure 1.10. Crystal structure of YbPd (a) at room temperature, (b) below $T_2 = 105$ K



Figure 1.11. Temperature dependence of the electrical resistivity of YbPd [22]. The inset shows a magnified graph in the low temperature region.



Figure 1.12. Difference in specific heat between YbPd and non-magnetic LuPd versus temperature [22]. (Inset) Specific heat of YbPd (circle), LuPd (square), and CaPd (triangle) at low temperatures.



Figure 1.13. Temperature dependence of the ac susceptibility of YbPd at low temperatures [22].



Figure 1.14. ¹⁷⁰Yb Mössbauer spectra of YbPd at T = 4.2, 1.4, and 0.05 K [23].

1.3.2 Physical Properties under pressure

It is well-known that pressure is a powerful tool to control the hybridization between 4f electrons and conduction electrons. In Yb-based compounds, applying pressure corresponds to a decrease in $J_{cf}D(\varepsilon_F)$ in Doniach's phase diagram. This means that a magnetic trivalent state with a smaller volume becomes stable under pressure. For example, YbInCu₄ performs a first-order valence transition from Yb³⁺ to Yb^{2.9+} with decreasing temperature at ambient pressure. The Yb^{2.9+} state, where Yb valence fluctuates between Yb³⁺ and Yb²⁺ states, exhibits no

magnetic order even at the lowest temperature. The application of pressure suppresses the valence transition and stabilizes the magnetic Yb^{3+} state down to the lowest temperatures. The stabilized Yb^{3+} state exhibits ferromagnetic order above 2.5 GPa [26, 27]. In some Yb-based heavy-fermion or intermediate-valence compounds, similar pressure-induced magnetic order has been found.

In YbPd, however, with applying pressure, magnetic ordering temperature T₃ decreases and disappears at around 2 GPa [28, 29]. Figure 1.15 shows the temperature dependence of the electrical resistivity under various pressures. The valence ordering temperature T₂ is also shifted to low temperatures and suppressed at around P = 2 GPa. These results imply that the magnetic order is strongly related to the valence order. The structural phase transition temperature T_1 is also gradually shifted to 80 K at 2 GPa. However, the anomaly of the electrical resistivity at T_1 is smeared and cannot be found at around 2 GPa [28, 29]. Therefore, the detailed behavior of T_1 above 2 GPa is not understood.

Figure 1.16 depicts the temperature – pressure phase diagram reported by A. Miyake *et al.* [28]. After the collapse of the valence order, the valence fluctuation is realized in all temperature ranges. We expected that magnetic order might emerge at a higher pressure region similarly to the heavy-fermion or intermediate-valence Yb-based compounds because Yb valence should approach a magnetic trivalent state with applying pressure. Previously, Sugishima *et al.* reported temperature dependence of electrical resistivity under high pressure of $2 \sim 8$ GPa between $T = 2 \sim 300$ K. As shown in Fig. 1.17, Kondo-like behavior was observed but no anomalies associated with magnetic order was found. [30].



Figure 1.15. Temperature dependence of electrical resistivity of YbPd under various pressure up to 2.4 GPa [28].



Figure 1.16. Temperature – pressure phase diagram of YbPd [29].



Figure 1.17. Temperature dependence of electrical resistivity under pressure up to 8 GPa. The resistivity curves are shifted by 5 for clarity [30].

1.3.3 Neutron diffraction studies

We have thought that the magnetic structure of YbPd should give insight into the valence order structure because only trivalent Yb ions have a magnetic moment while intermediate-valence ions have no magnetic moment. Previously, we carried out neutron diffraction measurements using single-crystal samples of YbPd and found magnetic Bragg peaks below T_3 . Figure 1.18 displays the rocking curve at d = 20.2 Å at T = 0.75 and 3 K, which was measured at the T1-2 spectrometer (AKANE) installed at the thermal guide in the JRR-3 reactor of the Japan Atomic Energy Agency at Tokai, Japan. A clear peak is observed at T = 0.75 K but suppressed at T = 3K, which means that this is due to the magnetic order at T_3 [30].

The magnetic peaks can also be found by a $\omega - 2\theta$ scan with Tohoku University Polarization Analysis Neutron Spectrometer (TOPAN) installed at the JRR-3, as shown in Fig. 1.19. The intensities and *k*-vectors of the magnetic peaks observed like this are summarized in Fig 1.20. M. Sugishima, who belonged to our laboratory as a doctor course student, attempted to determine a magnetic structure of YbPd by analyzing these data but was not successful. It has been clarified that the intensity data are influenced by a domain structure which formed by the cubic – tetragonal structural phase transition at T_1 . We decide to measure neutron diffraction using powder samples to avoid influence by the domain structure.



Figure 1.18. Rocking curve at d = 20.2 Å versus crystal angle ω at T = 0.75 K and T = 3.3 K [31].



Figure 1.19. $\omega - 2\theta$ scan at *T* = 0.75 K and *T* = 3.3 K [31].



Figure 1.20. Summarized intensities and k-vectors of magnetic Bragg peaks. The peaks are found at around nuclear diffractions. The intensities are classified by circle color. No peak is observed at a black circle [31].

$1.4 Eu_2Pt_6X_{15}$ (X = Al, Ga)

1.4.1 $Eu_2Pt_6Al_{15}$ and $Eu_2Pt_6Ga_{15}$

Recently, it has been reported that Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅ exhibits a first-order valence transition at T = 45 K [32]. Figure 1.21 demonstrates the crystal structure of this compound. The structure is a superlattice of the hexagonal Sc_{0.6}Fe₂Si_{4.9} type structure (space group: *P6₃/mmc*) and the orthorhombic Yb₂Pt₆Al₁₅ type structure (*Cmcm*). We can regard the structure as an averaged hexagonal structure with a = 4.2947 Å and c = 16.667 Å [32].

Figure 1.22 depicts the temperature dependence of the magnetic susceptibility of Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅. The magnetic susceptibility increases at around 45 K on the heating process, which is associated with valence change from non-magnetic trivalent state to magnetic divalent state [32]. As shown in Fig. 1.23, electrical resistivity also shows a drastic increase at the same temperature ranges. Figure 1.24 displays the ¹⁵¹Eu Mössbauer spectra of Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅ measured at various temperatures. Observation of only one spectrum with an isomer shift of v = 0 mm/s at T = 6 K corresponds to a trivalent Eu ion. With increasing temperature, the trivalent spectrum declines and simultaneously the divalent one (v = -14 mm/s) grows at around 45 K. This is direct evidence of the valence transition. The co-existence of the trivalent and divalent spectra means that this transition is of first order [32].



Figure 1.21. Crystal structure of $Eu_2Pt_6X_{15}$ (X =Al, Ga). Eu atoms are represented by blue circle, Al/Ga atoms by light blue and white, and Pt atoms by black [32].



Figure 1.22. Temperature dependence of magnetic susceptibility and inverse susceptibility of Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅ [32].



Figure 1.23. Temperature dependence of electrical resistivity of Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅ [32].



Figure 1.24. ¹⁵¹Eu Mössbauer spectra of Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅ at T = 6, 35, 40, 45, and 78 K. Blue and Green lines denote subspectra corresponding to the trivalent and divalent state, respectively [32].

Eu₂Pt₆Ga₁₅ crystallizes in the same structure as that of Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅ with lattice constants of a = 4.2989 and c = 16.767 Å. The Eu valence in Eu₂Pt₆Ga₁₅ keeps the divalent state down to the lowest temperature, which is confirmed by ¹⁵¹Eu Mössbauer spectroscopy, as shown in Fig 1.25. [32]. The splitting spectrum observed at 6 K indicates that the compound exhibits magnetic order. Figure 1.26 shows the temperature dependence of the magnetic susceptibility and inverse susceptibility of Eu₂Pt₆Ga₁₅. The *T*-linear inverse susceptibility above 50 K indicates a Curie-Weiss law with an effective moment of 8.07µ_B/Eu and a Weiss temperature of -30.7 K. The

effective moment is close to the theoretical value of Eu^{2+} , 7.94µ_B/Eu, which implies a divalent state. The cusp of the magnetic susceptibility at around 13 K corresponds to antiferromagnetic order [32].



Figure 1.25. ¹⁵¹Eu Mössbauer spectra of Eu₂Pt₆Ga₁₅ at T = 6, 78, and 300 K. Green lines denote the signal of divalent state [32].



Figure 1.26. Magnetic susceptibility and inverse magnetic susceptibility of Eu₂Pt₆Ga₁₅ versus temperature [32].

1.5 Purpose of this thesis

As mentioned in section 1.3.3, the magnetic structure gives insight into the valence order in YbPd. However, there are two problems in determining the magnetic structure; one is the domain structure, and the other is difficulty in obtaining a strain-free powder sample. The strains introduced during pulverizing a bulk sample suppress the phase transitions at T_1 and T_2 and broaden the Bragg peak of X-ray diffraction. Recently, we have succeeded in synthesizing strain-free powder samples of YbPd. Therefore, we try to determine the magnetic structure of YbPd by powder neutron diffraction using newly synthesized powder samples and discuss the valence order of YbPd from the viewpoint of the magnetic structure.

Second, it is expected that magnetic order emerges after the valence order is suppressed in YbPd. According to the previous report, however, no magnetic order is found up to 8 GPa down to 2.5 K. We measure electrical resistivity in the higher pressure region up to 12.5 GPa and in the lower temperature region down to 550 mK. Moreover, the pressure dependence of T_1 above 2 GPa has been unclarified. We carry out powder X-ray diffraction under pressure to determine the phase boundary of T_1 . The behavior of YbPd in the higher-pressure regions is discussed on the basis of the electrical resistivity and X-ray diffraction measurements.

Third, Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅ is a new Eu-based compound that performs valence transition. The crystal structure of the compound is quite different from the tetragonal ThCr₂Si₂-type and hexagonal ZrBeSi-type structures, where Eu-based valence transitions have been discovered. Despite the difference in structure, the properties of valence transition seem to be similar to each other. Examination of the properties of the valence transition in Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅ should give us fruitful information on the universality of valence transition in Eu-based compounds. Moreover, an isostructural Eu₂Pt₆Ga₁₅ is an antiferromagnet with a stable divalent state. Substitution of Ga for Al in Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅ should shift the valence state toward a magnetic divalent state. We examine Eu₂Pt₆(Al_{1-x}Ga_x)₁₅ by measurements of electrical resistivity, magnetic susceptibility, high-field magnetization, and X-ray absorption spectroscopy at Eu L_3 -edge.

2. Experimental Details

2.1 Sample preparation

A single crystal sample of YbPd was prepared by Yb self-flux method. We weighed Yb and Pd at a molar ratio of 65:35. The mixture of Yb lumps and Pd powders was sealed into a stainless tube under Ar atmosphere. The stainless tube was subsequently sealed in an evacuated quartz tube. The sample was heated to 1100 °C, kept for 24 hours, and cooled down to 800 °C at a rate of -3 K/h. When bulk samples are pulverized, the dislocations are easily introduced to the lattice because YbPd samples are ductile owing to the simple crystal structure.

Post-annealing, which is often used to recover the crystallinity, resulted in products of Yb₃Pd₄ due to the high vapor pressure of Yb. This result gave us a clue to synthesize the strain-free powder sample of YbPd. YbPd powder can be obtained by annealing Yb₅Pd₂. Yb₅Pd₂ is a neighbor compound at a Yb-rich side in the Pd-Yb binary phase diagram and also a by-product of single-crystal synthesis. Yb₅Pd₂ has a complex crystal structure and is easily pulverized.

The Yb₅Pd₂ and Pd powders were weighed in a molar ratio of $1 : 1 \sim 1 : 2$. The mixture of the Yb₅Pd₂ and Pd powders, which was wrapped in a Ta foil and sealed in an evacuated quartz tube, was kept at 650 °C for 90 hours. Figure 2.1 depicts the powder X-ray diffraction pattern of the new powder sample together with that of the pulverized bulk sample. The sharp Bragg peaks of the new powder sample mean that this powder sample is free from dislocations and strains. However, it contains a small amount of Yb₂O₃ and YbH₂ as an impurity.



Figure 2.1. Powder X-ray diffraction profiles of the new powder sample (black) and old powder sample [33] (red) of YbPd.

Polycrystalline samples of $Eu_2Pt_6(Al_{1-x}Ga_x)_{15}$ (x = 0, 0.05, 0.1, 0.2, 0.3, and 1) were prepared by arc-melting constituent elements under Ar atmosphere of 0.08 MPa. The starting materials were weighed in a stoichiometric ratio. Eu ingots were pre-melted to remove absorbed gas. Then, we melted the mixture of Pt, Al, Ga, and Eu.

2.2 Powder neutron Diffraction measurements

Powder neutron diffraction measurements were carried out at iMATERIA installed at BL-20 of the Material and Life Science Experimental facilities (MLF) at the Japan Proton Accelerator Research Complex (J-PARC) in Tokai by a time-of-flight (TOF) method. The powder samples were put into a vanadium cylinder with 6mm diameter together with He gas. The measurements were performed at 0.59 K ($< T_3$) and 3 K ($> T_3$) using a ³He closed-cycle refrigerator.

2.3 X-ray diffraction measurements under high pressure

We carried out powder X-ray diffraction measurement under high pressure at BL10XU of SPring-8. The powder samples were put into membrane diamond anvil cell with tiny ruby chips. We adopted helium gas as a pressure medium. The samples were cooled down to 10 K by a closed-cycle helium refrigerator. Pressure applied to the samples was calibrated by a ruby fluorescence method. The wavelength of the X-ray was set to 0.414813 Å by a double crystal monochromator of Si (111) and Si (220). We used an imaging plate area detector for collecting the diffraction data.

2.4 Electrical resistivity measurements under high pressure

We measured the electrical resistivity of YbPd under high pressure using a conventional ac 4 probe method with a cubic anvil cell at the Institute for Solid State Physics, the University of Tokyo. The single-crystalline sample was put into the cell with a mixture of Fluorinert (FC70 : FC77 = 1 : 1) as a pressure transmitting medium. We applied pressure by a hydraulic pump at room temperature and the pressure was held by a clamping nut. The cell was cooled down to approximately 500 mK using a ³He cryostat.

2.5 Magnetic Susceptibility

We used the SQUID magnetometer (MPMS, Quantum Design co. Ltd.) to examine the temperature dependence of the magnetic susceptibility of $Eu_2Pt_6(Al_{1-x}Ga_x)_{15}$. Small pieces of $Eu_2Pt_6(Al_{1-x}Ga_x)_{15}$ are attached to the drinking straw. Temperature dependence of magnetic susceptibility was measured between T = 5 - 300 K in a heating process in a magnetic field of 0.1 T.

2.6 High-field magnetization process

We measured high-field magnetization measurements in a pulsed magnetic field up to 50 T with a pulse duration of about 40 ms by an induction method with well-balanced pick-up coils at the Center for Advanced High Magnetic Field Science in Osaka University. We measured the high-field magnetization at T = 4.2 K for all samples. For Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅, we examined the magnetization curves at various temperatures. The magnitude of magnetization data was calibrated using low-field data taken by the SQUID magnetometer.

2.7 X-ray Absorption Spectroscopy (XAS)

X-ray absorption spectroscopy (XAS) at the Eu L_3 -edge was measured by a transmission method at BL11 of SAGA Light Source. To adjust transmittance, the powdered samples of Eu₂Pt₆(Al_{1-x}Ga_x)₁₅ were mixed with boron nitride (BN) powders and were pressed into a pellet. The pellets were set on a sample stage made of Cu. The samples of x = 0, 0.05, and 0.1 were cooled down to 6 K with a ⁴He closed-cycle refrigerator. The measurements were conducted between 6 and 300 K on heating. For x = 0.2, 0.3 and 1, the measurements were done only at room temperature.

3. Results and Discussion on YbPd

3.1 Powder neutron diffraction

3.1.1 Powder neutron diffraction

Figure 3.1 shows the difference in the neutron diffraction pattern between T = 0.59 ($< T_3$) and 3 K ($> T_3$), which extracts magnetic contributions from the diffraction pattern. The magnetic Bragg peaks are found at d = 19.3, 9.95, 6.03, 5.24, and 4.66 Å. The peaks at d = 6.03 and 4.66 Å can be explained by the antiferromagnetic order of the impurity of Yb₂O₃ ($T_N = 2.3$ K), whose magnetic structure was determined by R. M. Moon *et al.* [34] YbH₂ exhibits no magnetic order with non-magnetic Yb²⁺ ions. Thus, the other magnetic peaks at 19.3, 9.95, and 5.24 Å are produced by the magnetic order of YbPd.

The most intense peak at d = 19.3 Å corresponds to that at d = 20.2 Å observed at 0.8 K in the previous single-crystal neutron diffraction. The slight discrepancy of d might be due to a lower resolution of the single-crystal measurement or to the temperature dependence of the magnetic propagation vector. A TOF measurement has a d resolution that is proportional to d. Comparison of the half widths at half maximum (HWHMs) of a nuclear peak of YbPd at d = 6.92 Å, of the magnetic peak of Yb₂O₃ at 6.03 Å, and of the magnetic peak of YbPd at 5.24 Å, which are observed at similar d values, reveals a linear relation between the HWHMs and d. This means that the width of the magnetic peaks of YbPd is not broadened intrinsically, which suggests the long-range magnetic order of YbPd.



Figure 3.1. The difference in neutron diffraction patterns between T = 0.59 and 3 K. Vertical lines indicate the peak positions expected from the magnetic propagation vectors $\mathbf{k} = (k_1 \ 0 \ k_2), (k_1 \ k_2/2 \ 0), \text{ and } (k_2/2 \ 0 \ 2k_1).$

3.1.2 Magnetic structure analysis

The previous single-crystal neutron diffraction clarified the magnetic propagation vector in the two-dimensional reciprocal-lattice space, as shown in Figs. 1.17 and 1.18, where vertical and horizontal axes are not decided. Because the domain structure is produced by the structural phase transition from cubic to tetragonal symmetry at T_1 , the axes must be in the a^* or c^* direction in terms of the tetragonal symmetry. Thus, three candidates of the reciprocal lattice spaces with the axes of c^*-a^* , a^*-a^* , and a^*-c^* are possible, as shown in Fig. 3.2. Besides, the double structure along the *c*-axis below T_2 makes the c^* component of the propagation vector double. As a result, the possible propagation vector corresponds to $\mathbf{k} = (k_1 \ 0 \ k_2)$, $(k_1 \ k_2/2 \ 0)$, or $(k_2/2 \ 0 \ 2k_1)$ with $k_1 = 0.080$ and $k_2 = 0.32$. To determine the magnetic propagation vector, we calculate the magnetic peaks corresponding to the possible propagation vector, as shown in Fig. 3.1 as a vertical bar. The best reproduction of the observation is obtained for $\mathbf{k} = (k_1 \ 0 \ k_2)$. In the following analysis, $\mathbf{k} = (k_1 \ 0 \ k_2)$ is adopted.



Figure 3.2. Three possible reciprocal-lattice spaces are shown on the basis of the tetragonal symmetry. The cross marks depict the magnetic propagation vector.

The powder neutron diffraction measurements revealed the three magnetic Bragg peaks of YbPd. Assuming a single-*k* structure with $k = (k_1 \ 0 \ k_2)$, the magnetic peaks of YbPd were analyzed to determine a magnetic structure. Atomic parameters were determined by using the neutron diffraction data (Fig. 3.3) for T = 3 K taken at the backscattering bank of BL-20 ($2\theta = 155^{\circ}$, d = 0.4 - 5.26 Å) [35, 36] by Rietveld refinement using the Z-code [37, 38] because the backscattering bank is satisfactory for detailed structure refinements due to the highest resolution data. The lattice constants were estimated to be a = 3.436751(2) Å and c = 6.924151(2) Å, with the atomic positions of Yb1 (0, 0, 0), Yb2 (0, 0, 1/2), and Pd (1/2, 1/2, z) with z = 0.23357(2). These values are employed for the following magnetic structure refinement.



Figure 3.3. Rietveld refinement for the powder neutron diffraction profile for T = 3 K at $2\theta = 155^{\circ}$. The solid black circle indicates the observation. The red line stands for Rietveld calculation by Z-code. The light green line is the difference in intensity between observation and calculation.

We can narrow out the models of magnetic structure with the representation analysis method. According to the Landau theory concerning a second-order magnetic transition, the magnetic structure can be given by the linear combination of the basis vectors that belong to the subgroup of lattice symmetry, whose symmetric operations do not change the propagation vector k [39]. SARAh can find the basis vectors, namely the magnetic structure models that are in agreement with the symmetry of the crystal structure [40]. The basis vectors proposed by SARAh with the propagation vector of $k = (0.080 \ 0 \ 0.32)$ in the symmetry of P4/mmm are summarized in Table I. According to the SARAh results, the magnetic structure does not contain any rotation of the magnetic moments because all of the imaginary components ($im_a \ im_b \ im_c$) of the basis vectors are zero. This result and the incommensurate long-periodical structure make a sinusoidal magnetic structure the most feasible. The SARAh also concludes that the magnetic moments are aligned within the ac-plain or along the a-axis.

Based on the SARAh results, the Rietveld refinements for the powder neutron diffraction patterns are conducted by the Fullprof program. [41] The following four models with $\mathbf{k} = (0.080 \ 0.032)$ are investigated; (a) only Yb³⁺ ions have magnetic moments within the *ac*-plane, (b) only Yb³⁺ ions have moments along the *a*-axis, (c) both Yb³⁺ and Yb^{2.6+} ions have magnetic moments along the *a*-axis. The fitting parameters with error bars are shown in Table II, where the error bars are

estimated from standard deviations. The χ^2 values, which indicate the quality of the refinement, are exactly the same for all the models.

The models (a) and (b) give almost the same results. The amplitude of the magnetic moments in the sinusoidal structure is estimated to be approximately 0.3 μ_B . In model (a), the angle of the magnetic moments from the *a*-axis is $16\pm16^\circ$, which is estimated from the *a*- and *c*-axis components and errors. The large errors of the *c*-axis component and the angle mean that the result is essentially identical to that of the model (b). From almost the same χ^2 value, it is evaluated that model (b) with less fitting parameters is the most probable. The fitting result for the model (b) is shown as a red curve in Fig. 3.4.

For model (c), a similar value of χ^2 was obtained, in which the Yb^{2.6+} ions have much smaller magnetic moments than the Yb³⁺ ions do. However, the error bars of the magnetic moment are larger by one order than those obtained using models (a) and (b) (only the Yb³⁺ ions have magnetic moments). Such large error bars of the magnetic moments indicate the failure of the model (c).

For model (d), the magnetic moments of Yb^{3+} and $Yb^{2.6+}$ ions are estimated to be 0.25 ± 0.03 μ_B and 0.02 ± 0.03 μ_B , respectively. It should be noticed that this model is essentially the same as the model (b) since the magnetic moments of $Yb^{2.6+}$ are negligible. Therefore, it is concluded that the $Yb^{2.6+}$ ions have no magnetic moments, which agrees with the valence ordering structure determined from the previous single-crystal X-ray diffraction [24, 25] and the previous Mössbauer results [23].

Finally, as shown in Fig. 3.5, the determined magnetic structure of YbPd is sinusoidal with the amplitude of ~0.3 μ_B and the propagation vector of $\mathbf{k} = (0.080 \ 0 \ 0.32)$. Only the Yb³⁺ ions carry a magnetic moment aligned parallel to the *a*-axis in terms of the tetragonal symmetry, while the Yb^{2.6+} ions have no magnetic moment.

Irreducible Representations	Basis Vectors	Atom	Basis Vector Component					
			m_a	m_b	m_c	<i>im</i> a	im _b	<i>im</i> _c
Γ_1	ψ_1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
Γ_2	Ψ2	1	0	1	0	0	0	0
	¥З	1	0	0	1	0	0	0

Table I. Basis vectors calculate from the space group P4/mmm with $\mathbf{k} = (0.080\ 0\ 0.32)$. m_a, m_b, m_c are real parts, and im_a, im_b, im_c are imaginary parts of each magnetic moments component, respectively.



Figure 3.4. Rietveld refinement for the powder neutron diffraction profile. The solid black square indicates the observation. The red line stands for Rietveld calculation by Fullprof. The light green line is the difference in intensity between observation and calculation. The letter M represents the magnetic peak around the nuclear peak ($h \ k \ l$).

Table II. Fitting parameters obtained by the refinement of FullProf for each model. The magnetic ions are located at only the 1a (0 0 0) site for models (a) and (b) and at both 1a and 1b (0 0 1/2) sites for models (c) and (d). Pd atoms are at the 2h (1/2 1/2 0.23357) site.

Magnatia momenta	Amplitude of	a avis component	a avis component	χ^2
Magnetic moments	magnetic moment	<i>u</i> -axis component	<i>c</i> -axis component	
(a) Within <i>ac</i> -plane				
Only Yb ³⁺ ions	$0.27\pm0.09~\mu\mathrm{B}$	$0.26 \pm 0.04 \ \mu_{\rm B}$	$0.08\pm0.08~\mu_{B}$	32.3
(b) along <i>a</i> -axis				
Only Yb ³⁺ ions	$0.29\pm0.02~\mu_B$	$0.29\pm0.02\mu_B$	-	32.3
(c) Within <i>ac</i> -plane	$0.3\pm1.0~\mu_B~(Yb^{3+})$	$0.3\pm 0.2~\mu_{B}(Yb^{3+})$	$0.0\pm 1.0\mu_B(Yb^{3+})$	32.3
Both Yb^{3+} & $Yb^{2.6+}$	$0.1 \pm 0.7 \ \mu_{\rm B} \ (Yb^{2.6+})$	$0.0\pm0.3~\mu_{B}(Yb^{2.6+})$	$0.0\pm 0.6~\mu_B(Yb^{2.6+})$	
(d) along <i>a</i> -axis Both Yb ³⁺ & Yb ^{2.6+}	$0.25 \pm 0.03 \ \mu_{\rm B} \ ({ m Yb}^{3+})$	$0.25\pm 0.03~\mu_B~(Yb^{3+})$		32.3
	$0.02 \pm 0.03 \ \mu_{\rm B} \ ({ m Yb}^{2.6+})$	$0.02\pm 0.03~\mu_B~(Yb^{2.6+})$	-	



Figure 3.5. (a) The most probable magnetic structure of YbPd. The amplitude of magnetic moments is approximately 0.3 μ_B . The propagation vector $\mathbf{k} = (0.080 \ 0 \ 0.32)$. (b) the periodicity in the a direction. (c) Periodicity in the c direction.

The crystalline-electrical-field (CEF) Γ_8 quartet ground state was determined on the basis of the cubic structure by the previous inelastic neutron scattering experiments [42]. The tetragonal symmetry essentially produces a doublet CEF ground state. Thus, the inelastic neutron scattering should be done again using the strain-free powder samples. Tokiwa *et al.* have reported that a magnetic entropy at 5 K amounts to $(1/2)R \ln 2$, which is also consistent with the doublet ground state. The magnetic entropy is depressed to about 50% of $(1/2)R \ln 2$ at $T_3 = 1.9$ K, which is suggestive of instabilities of the magnetic ordering and/or the Kondo effect [43].

The former is possibly ascribed to the two-dimensional valence order structure of this compound. The valence order structure of YbPd, where the magnetic Yb^{3+} layers are separated

by the nonmagnetic Yb^{2.6+} layers, results in a large distance (~ 6.9 Å) between the magnetic Yb³⁺ layers. This fact reminds us of the two-dimensionality of the magnetic Yb³⁺ ions in YbPd. Generally speaking, a two-dimensional XY or Heisenberg model with only nearest-neighbor spin interactions gives rise to no magnetic order, whereas a two-dimensional Ising one produces magnetic order [44, 45]. If the XY or Heisenberg model can be applied to this compound, the magnetic ordering could be destabilized. To confirm this situation, it is required to examine the anisotropic properties of magnetic susceptibility of YbPd. However, it is difficult to investigate them because the domain structure is formed in the valence order state of YbPd. Instead, inelastic neutron scattering is more realizable to obtain information on the doublet ground state and the anisotropic magnetic properties.

The sinusoidal magnetic structures, in which the magnitudes of magnetic moments are modulated in space by thermal fluctuations, can never be a ground state. There should exist another magnetic phase transition to a commensurate magnetic structure at a lower temperature than T_3 . Thus, the phase transition at T_4 is inferred to be due to the magnetic phase transition. The previous ¹⁷⁰Yb Mössbauer spectroscopy revealed a distribution of hyperfine fields between T_3 and T_4 compared with hyperfine fields below T_4 [], which is also consistent with the inference. The magnetic structure below T_4 should be examined by additional neutron diffraction studies at lower temperatures. Actually, the possible variation of the magnetic propagation vector was observed in the range $T_4 < T < T_3$, which may be a precursor to the phase transition to a commensurate magnetic structure.

The latter Kondo regime was also proposed by Tokiwa *et al.* They reported an enhanced electronic specific-heat coefficient γ of 0.22 J/K² mol (= 0.44 J/K² Yb³⁺-mol) [43]. In the $\rho - T$ curves, a flat region between 4 and 8 K at ambient pressure [22] is transformed into a $-\log T$ dependent region at a pressure above 1 GPa [28, 29]. These results suggest the Kondo effect is significant. Very recently, M. Shiga *et al.* report point-contact spectra of YbPd, which is indicative of the Kondo effect with $T_{\rm K} \sim 30$ K [46]. Besides, the amplitude of the magnetic moment is much smaller than that expected for the Γ_8 CEF ground state, 0.57 μ_B or 2.1 μ_B , which is reminiscent of the shrinkage of the magnetic moment by the Kondo effect. However, we should intrinsically compare the amplitude with the magnetic moment in terms of the tetragonal doublet ground state. The inelastic neutron scattering study is desired.

3.2 High-pressure measurements of YbPd

3.2.1 X-ray diffraction measurements under high pressure

Figures. 3.6 (a) – (c) display temperature variation of a (0 0 1/2) superlattice diffraction peak for P = 0.3, 1.0, and 2.0 GPa. The superlattice peak is observed below 74 K at P = 0.3 GPa and below 50 K at 1.0 GPa. At P = 2.0 GPa, no peak of the (0 0 1/2) diffraction is found down to 10 K. These results mean that the valence ordering temperature T_2 shifts to lower temperatures with applying pressure and is suppressed at P = 2.0 GPa, which is consistent with the previous reports [28, 29]. Additionally, a weak peak emerges at $2\theta = 3.5 - 3.6^{\circ}$, which is a little larger diffraction angle than that of the (0 0 1/2). The emergence of the peak is accompanied by the disappearance of the (0 0 1/2) peak, which probably corresponds to the incommensurate valence order between T_1 and T_2 with a propagation vector of ($x \ x \ 1/2$) reported by R. Takahashi *et al.* [16]. This weak peak is seen at T = 10 K for 5.0 GPa but invisible for P = 6.1 GPa. This result agrees with the suppression of T_1 , as described later.



Figure 3.6. Temperature variation of $(0\ 0\ 1/2)$ superlattice diffraction peak under P = 0.3 GPa (a), 1.0 GPa (b), and 2.0 GPa (c).

Figure 3.7 shows temperature variation of a (4 0 0) Bragg peak for P = 2.0 (a), 3.7 (b), 4.4 (c), and 5.0 GPa (d). One can see peak splitting associated with the cubic – tetragonal structural transition at T_1 . Although in the electrical resistivity measurements, the anomaly at T_1 was not visible above P = 2.0 GPa [28, 29], the (4 0 0) peak is found to be split definitely up to 4.4 GPa. Thus, T_1 is defined as the onset of the peak splitting. On the other hand, the (4 0 0) peak remains one peak down to 10 K at P = 5 GPa, which means T_1 is suppressed by the pressure of ~5 GPa. This result indicates that the cubic valence fluctuating state exists down to the lowest temperature. In summary, a new T - P phase diagram is depicted in Fig. 3.8.



Figure 3.7. Temperature variation of the (4 0 0) Bragg peak under P = 2.0 GPa (a), 3.7 GPa (b), 4.4 GPa (c), and 5.0 GPa (d).



Figure 3.8. Temperature – Pressure phase diagram determined by powder X-ray diffraction under pressure.

Figure 3.9 depicts the pressure dependence of lattice constants *a* and *c* at T = 10 K. Both *a* and *c* monotonically decrease with applying pressure. The lattice constant *c* decreases more rapidly than *a* and merges with the *a* at around 4 GPa, which means approaching the cubic structure. The structural behavior under high pressure is evaluated by using the first-order Murnaghan's equation of state [47],

$$P = \frac{B_0}{B'_0} \left[\left(\frac{V_0}{V} \right)^{B'_0} - 1 \right]. \quad (3.1)$$

Here, B_0 , B_0 ', and V_0 stand for a bulk modulus, its pressure derivation, and the volume at ambient pressure, respectively. Based on this equation, we can express the unit cell volume as a function of pressure as,

$$V = V_0 \left(1 + \frac{B'_0}{B_0} P \right)^{-\frac{1}{B'_0}}.$$
 (3.2)

To determine B_0 and B_0 ', the present results are fitted with this equation. The B_0 and B_0 ' values are calculated to be 65 GPa and 8.8, respectively. The B_0 value is much smaller than that of a cubic heavy-fermion system YbAgCu₄ (100 GPa) [48]. The mean Yb valence of YbAgCu₄ (v= 2.91 – 2.96) is closer to the trivalent state than that of YbPd (v~2.8) [49]. The smaller bulk modulus implies the change of the mean Yb valence under pressure in YbPd.



Figure 3.9. Pressure dependence of lattice constant *a*, *c*, and $V^{1/3}$. The Red dashed line indicates the $V^{1/3}$ curve calculated based on the first-order Murnaghan's equation of state.

3.2.2 Electrical resistivity measurements under high pressure

Figure 3.10(a) depicts the temperature dependence of electrical resistivity in the temperature ranges from 0.5 to 250 K under high pressure up to 12.5 GPa. For 4, 6, and 8 GPa, the behavior of the electrical resistivity is well agreed with the previous report [30]. Figure 3.10(b) shows the magnified graph of Fig. 3.10(a) in the lowest temperature regions. There exist no obvious anomalies of pressure-induced magnetic order and superconductivity down to 0.5 K for all pressures.

The electrical resistivity data are fitted with $\rho = \rho_0 + AT^n$ at low temperatures to examine the ground state behavior. The obtained residual resistivity ρ_0 and the exponent *n* are plotted against pressure in Fig. 3.10(c). The deviation of *n* from 2 in all pressure ranges means non-Fermi liquid (NFL) behavior at low temperature. The rapid increase in *n* and drastic decrease in ρ_0 between 4 and 8 GPa are probably associated with the suppression of T_1 . Above 8 GPa, *n* is almost independent of pressure and amounts to approximately 1. Such robust *T*-linear behavior is also observed in YbRh₂Si₂ [50] and β -YbAlB₄ [51]. Watanabe and Miyake have pointed out theoretically that the *T*-linear behavior of electrical resistivity is quantum critical behavior due to valence fluctuation [52]. The observed *T*-linear behavior implies that YbPd under pressure also belongs to the group of YbRh₂Si₂ and β -YbAlB₄. To clarify these points, further investigations in the lower temperature and higher pressure regions are desired.

As discussed above, the bulk modulus of YbPd at 10 K indicates the valence change with applying pressure. In the case of YbRh₂Si₂, the Yb valence state reaches Yb³⁺ only above 8.5

GPa [53], where magnetic ordering temperature increases definitely. Thus, the study on Yb valence under pressure also gives a deeper insight into pressure variation of the ground state of YbPd.



Figure 3.10. (a) Temperature dependence of electrical resistivity under various pressures. These curves are shifted vertically for clarity. (b) The magnified graph of (a) in the low temperature regions. Dashed lines indicate $\rho = \rho_0 + AT^n$ curve. (c) The residual resistivity ρ_0 and exponent *n* are plotted versus pressure.

4. Results and Discussion on Eu₂Pt₆(Al_{1-x}Ga_x)₁₅

4.1 Lattice parameter

Figure 4.1 depicts the Ga content *x* dependence of the lattice constants *a* and *c* by analyzing the XRD profiles on the basis of the average hexagonal structure. The lattice constant *c* increases rapidly up to x = 0.2 and gradually above x = 0.2. On the other hand, the lattice constant *a* is almost independent of *x* up to x = 0.3 and increases gradually above x = 0.3. Such a rise of the lattice constants with the substitution is also observed in Eu(Pd_{1-x}Au_x)₂Si₂ [20] and EuNi₂(Si_{1-x}Ge_x)₂ [54]. This behavior is related to the Eu valence change. As mentioned later, a rapid change of Eu valence is revealed in the substitution range below x = 0.2, where the *c*-axis increases rapidly.



Figure 4.1. Lattice constants *a*, *c* versus Ga concentration *x*., Black and red solid circles stand for *a* and *c*, respectively.

4.2 Magnetic susceptibility

Figures 4.2(a) and 4.2(b) show the temperature dependence of the magnetic susceptibility and the inverse susceptibility of Eu₂Pt₆(Al_{1-x}Ga_x)₁₅ measured in a magnetic field of 0.1 T. For x = 0, the susceptibility shows a sudden increase at around T = 45 K with increasing temperature, which is accompanied by the Eu valence change from a nonmagnetic trivalent state to a magnetic divalent state. Above T = 60 K, the susceptibility decreases in accordance with the

Curie-Weiss law. An increase below T = 20 K is probably due to ferromagnetic impurity. The behavior agrees with the previous results [32]. For x = 0.05, the susceptibility shows the gradual deviation from the Curie-Weiss law at around 30K with decreasing temperature. This behavior indicates a smaller and more gradual variation of the mean Eu valence.

For $x \ge 0.2$, the cusp is found at around T = 13 K, which is associated with the antiferromagnetic order transition. For x = 0.1, a tiny bend is observed at around T = 13 K, which is probably related to the antiferromagnetic order. By fitting the susceptibility data with the Curie-Weiss law, the effective moments p_{eff} and Weiss temperatures Θ_p are estimated to be 7.3 ~ 8.6 μ_B /Eu and $-19 \sim -14$ K, respectively. These results indicate that Ga substitution decreases the valence transition temperature and produces antiferromagnetic order with the stabilized divalent state.



Figure 4.2. (a) Temperature dependence of magnetic susceptibility of $\text{Eu}_2\text{Pt}_6(\text{Al}_{1-x}\text{Ga}_x)_{15}$. The inset depicts magnified graph in the low temperature regions for $x = 0.1 \sim 1$. Arrows indicate the anomaly at T_{N} . (b) The inverse magnetic susceptibility is plotted as a function of temperature.

4.3 Electrical resistivity

Figures 4.3(a)-(c) show the temperature dependence of the electrical resistivity of $Eu_2Pt_6(Al_{1-x}Ga_x)_{15}$. For x = 0, the resistivity shows a linear decrease down to 50 K, followed by a cusp related to the valence transition at around 40 K in the first cooling process. In the following first heating process, the resistivity shows a rapid increase at around 40 K and the cusp at 53 K. this behavior is well-agreed with the previous report [32]. The electrical resistivity shows a thermal hysteresis, which indicates that the valence transition is of first order. The irreversible enhancement of the electrical resistivity in the first heating process can be understood by microcracks introduced by the sharp first-order valence transition.

For x = 0.05, the electrical resistivity shows similar behavior to that of x = 0. The resistivity shows *T*-linear dependence above T = 100 K and a broad peak at 13.5 K in the cooling process. Subsequently, in the heating process, the resistivity shows a peak at 27.9 K and *T*-linear dependence. The hysteretic behavior reflects the first-order valence transition. The $\rho - T$ curve above 70 K in the heating process is shifted vertically by about 30 $\mu\Omega$ cm from that in the cooling process, which is also probably owing to the microcracks. Note that the shift is much smaller than that for x = 0, 600 ~ 700 $\mu\Omega$ cm. These results suggest that the Ga substitution makes the valence transition gentle and suppresses the generation of microcracks.

The compounds of $x \ge 0.1$ show normal metallic behavior with the ρ values of 20~100 $\mu\Omega$ cm. The resistivity shows a sharp decrease below $T_N = 12 \sim 14$ K, which is due to the disappearance of the spin-disorder scattering of conduction electrons induced by the antiferromagnetic order. The electrical resistivity also clarifies that the Ga substitution for Al depresses the valence transition temperature and stabilizes the antiferromagnetic order with a Eu²⁺ state.



Figure 4.3. Temperature dependence of electrical resistivity for x = 0 (a), 0.05 (b), 0.1 ~ 1 (c)

4.4 Temperature versus Ga concentration phase diagram

The present magnetic susceptibility and electrical resistivity results are summarized in the temperature versus Ga concentration phase diagram in Fig. 4.4. With increasing Ga concentration, the valence transition temperature T_v drastically decreases and is suppressed at around x = 0.1. A non-magnetic intermediate valence ground state is stable for $0 \le x \le 0.05$, while a magnetic divalent ground state is stable for $x \ge 0.1$. The boundary between intermediate valence and nearly divalent ground state lies at around x = 0.05 - 0.1. With further increasing Ga concentration from x = 0.1, the Néel temperature slightly decreases because the expansion of the lattice makes the RKKY interaction weaker. Similar behavior of the Néel temperature is also observed in Eu(Pd_{1-x}Au_x)₂Si₂ [20], EuNi₂(Si_{1-x}Ge_x)₂ [54], and Eu(Rh_{1-x}Ir_x)₂Si₂ [55], which crystallizes in the tetragonal ThCr₂Si₂ type structure. In the present system, however, the valence transition becomes broadened when *x* approaches the boundary Ga concentration (*x*=0.1). This is possibly because the inhomogeneous situation due to the coexistence of Eu²⁺ and Eu³⁺ states is realized for $x \sim 0.05$. Thus, the Ga substitution not only expands the lattice volume but also affects the ground state of the Eu valence state.



Figure 4.4. T - x phase diagram. Gray bar at around x = 0.1 means the phase boundary.

4.5 High-field magnetization process

Magnetization curves in pulsed magnetic fields at T = 4.2 K are shown in Fig. 4.5. A sharp increase of the magnetization at around 30 T is observed in the compound with x = 0. In the low magnetic field region, the magnetization slope is as small as 0.06 μ_B /Eu T, where Eu ions

are in a nearly trivalent state. Above 30 T, the magnetization reaches 6.6 μ_B /Eu, which is close to a divalent Eu moment of 7 μ_B /Eu. Thus, the increase in magnetization is due to a fieldinduced valence transition. The hysteretic property indicates that the valence transition is of first order. For x = 0.05, a jump is seen at around 18 T. The jump is also associated with the valence transition but is less sharp than that of x = 0. The larger initial slope of x = 0.05 indicates a decrease of the Eu valence state even in zero fields, which results in the small jump of the magnetization and accordingly the Eu valence. For $x \ge 0.1$, spin-flip-like behavior is observed below 20 T. The magnetization is saturated to $6.1 - 6.7 \mu_B$ /Eu above 20 T. This is the typical behavior of an antiferromagnet.

Figure 4.6 shows the valence transition field B_v (T = 0) as a function of the valence transition temperature T_v (B = 0) for x = 0 and 0.05 in. It is known that B_v is proportional to T_v , $B_v = \alpha T_v$. The proportional constant α is 0.56 T/K for Eu(Pd_{1-x}Pt_x)₂Si₂ [56] and EuNi₂(Si_{1-x}Ge_x)₂ [57] and 0.36 T/K for Eu(Rh_{1-x}Ir_x)₂Si₂ [58], which perform valence transition and crystallize in the tetragonal ThCr₂Si₂ type structure. In the present study, the proportional constant is $\alpha = 0.63$ T/K for Eu₂Pt₆(Al_{1-x}Ga_x)₁₅, which is comparable to that for Eu(Pd_{1-x}Pt_x)₂Si₂ [56] and EuNi₂(Si_{1-x}Ge_x)₂ [57]. Assuming that the thermal energy corresponding to the valence transition temperature, k_BT_v is comparable to the Zeeman energy of the divalent Eu ions corresponding to the valence transition field, 7 μ_BB_v , the α value is roughly estimated to be $\alpha = k_B/7\mu_B \sim 0.21$ T/K. This value is the same in the order of magnitude as the experimental ones. The discrepancy may be due to the magnetic exchange interactions among the divalent Eu ions.



Figure 4.5. High-field magnetization process of $Eu_2Pt_6(Al_{1-x}Ga_x)_{15}$ at T = 4.2 K



Figure 4.6. B_v versus T_v for x=0 and 0.05 in Eu₂Pt₆(Al_{1-x}Ga_x)₁₅

Figure 4.7 shows the high-field magnetization curves of Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅ at various temperatures up to 50 K. With increasing temperature, the field-induced valence transition shifts to lower magnetic fields and becomes broader. The transition magnetic field B_v is defined as the magnetic field where the differential susceptibility dM/dB has a maximum. Figure 4.8 shows the T - B phase diagram of Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅. For EuPd₂Si₂ [56], YbInCu₄ [59, 60] and EuRh₂Si₂ under pressure [61], which perform a field-induced valence transition, The (T, B_v) data lie on a quarter ellipse and can be expressed by the following equation,

$$\left(\frac{T_{\nu}}{T_{\nu}(B=0)}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{B_{\nu}}{B_{\nu}(T=0)}\right)^{2} = 1. \quad (4.1)$$

Here, the (T, B_v) data are well reproduced by the equation with $T_v(B = 0) \sim 50$ K and $B_v(T = 0) \sim 30$ T. To discuss the T - B phase diagram, the Clausius – Clapeyron equation of magnetic materials is used. The equation is expressed as

$$\frac{dT}{dB} = -\frac{\Delta M}{\Delta S}, \quad (4.2)$$

where ΔM and ΔS are the variations of the magnetization and magnetic entropy, respectively, at a first-order phase transition. For the purpose of determining the ΔM values, the magnetization is plotted as a function of temperature M(T) in each magnetic field in the inset of Fig. 4.9. This plot is based on the M(B) curves at various temperatures shown in Fig. 4.7. The M(T) curves show a jump ΔM related to the valence transition. As shown in the inset of Fig. 4.9, the ΔM values are estimated from the difference between maximum and minimum in the M(T) curves. The ΔM at B = 20 T evaluated in such a method is depicted by the two-way arrow in Fig. 4.7. It is found that the ΔM is proportional to the magnetic field B as $\Delta M = aB$ up to B = 20 T, as shown in Fig. 4.9. Accordingly, Eq. (4.2) is written as

$$\frac{dT}{dB} = -\frac{a}{\Delta S} B \quad (4.3)$$

Here, a proportional coefficient *a* is calculated to be 0.58 (J/T² Eu-mol) from the $\Delta M(B)$ curve. On the other hand, it is hard to evaluate ΔS precisely from the previous heat capacity data because there exist no data of a non-magnetic reference compound. In the previous report, the heat capacity data was collected by the thermal relaxation method, which is unsuitable for measuring heat capacity associated with the first-order transition. In addition, the thermal relaxation, which is important for the measurement of the heat capacity, would be bad in this material due to the microcracks introduced at the valence transition.

Thus, we have a qualitative discussion and use the upper limit of $\Delta S = R \ln 8 = 17.3$ (J/K Eumol), where *R* is the gas constant. Assuming that ΔS is constant, $T(B) = T(0) - 0.017B^2$ is derived from the eq. (4.3), which is plotted in Fig. 4.8. The experimental results are well reproduced by this equation below B = 20 T. This equation deviates from the observation above B = 20 T. In the high field regions, the magnetic moments of field-induced Eu²⁺ ions are oriented to the applied magnetic field direction. Thus, magnetic entropy of the Eu²⁺ state is decreased, which results in a reduction of ΔS . The smaller ΔS gives a larger slope of the T(B) curve. In the limit of $T \rightarrow 0$, the entropy of both trivalent and divalent states should approach 0 according to the third law of thermodynamics. As a result, ΔS reaches 0 in the low-temperature limit. This leads to divergence of the magnitude of dT/dB and a phase boundary perpendicular to the B – axis. There are a lot of similarities in the valence transition between Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅ and the other Eubased system with the tetragonal ThCr₂Si₂ type structure.



Figure 4.7. Temperature variation of high-field magnetization of Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅. A two-way arrow indicates ΔM at 20 T estimated from M(T) curve as an inset of Fig. 4. 8.



Figure 4.8. T - B phase diagram of Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅. The obtained B_v is plotted as a function of T as a solid black circle. The dashed line indicates calculation based on Clausius – Clapeyron equation.



Figure 4.9. Field dependence of ΔM for x = 0. The dashed line is linear fitting at the low field region. (Inset) M(T) curve in the field of 20 T obtained based on M(B) curves in Fig. 4.6.

4.6 X-ray Absorption Spectroscopy

Figures 4.10(a), (b), (c) show the absorption spectra of x = 0, 0.05, and 0.1 at various temperature. Due to difference in number of 4f electrons, energies of absorption edges of Eu²⁺ ($E_2 = 6972 \text{ eV}$) and Eu³⁺ ($E_3 = 6978 \text{ eV}$.) ions are different. Thus, the observed spectrum can be decomposed into two subspectra of Eu²⁺ and Eu³⁺. For x = 0, 0.05, the temperature variation of the intensity ratio of the subspectra is observed, which indicates the temperature variation of Eu valence. On the other hand, the spectra are almost independent of temperature for x = 0.1. The X-ray absorption spectra can be fitted with the two subspectra consisting of an arc-tangent and a Lorentzian, as expressed in the following equation [62].

$$\mu(E) = \sum_{i=2}^{3} \left[\frac{A_i(\Gamma_i/2)}{(E - E_i)^2 + (\Gamma_i/2)^2} + \frac{A_i\Gamma_i}{A_2\Gamma_2 + A_3\Gamma_3} \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{\pi} \arctan \frac{E - (E_i + \delta)}{\Gamma_i'/2} \right) \right] (4.4),$$

where i = 2, 3 correspond to the divalent and trivalent state, respectively, and A_i , E_i , Γ_i , d, and Γ_i ' are fitting parameters. Based on this equation, the mean Eu valence is calculated by the next equation.

$$v = 2 + \frac{A_3 \Gamma_3}{A_2 \Gamma_2 + A_3 \Gamma_3}.$$
 (4.5)

By fitting the observed spectra with Eq. (4.4), the Eu valence is estimated from Eq. (4.5). The Eu valence is plotted as a function of Ga concentration at 300 K in Fig. 4.11. The Eu valence shows a steady decrease up to x = 0.2. This region is well-agreed with the region where the lattice constant *c* has a large slope, as shown in Fig. 4.1. The Eu valence is almost constant from x = 0.2 to 1.

Figure 4.12 shows temperature dependence of the Eu valence for x = 0, 0.05, and 0.1. For x = 0, the Eu valence drastically decreases from 2.70 to 2.33 at around T = 45 K. This behavior is in good agreement with the previous reports and our other experiments. In the high-temperature regions above 100 K, the Eu valence is almost independent of temperature. For x = 0.05, the Eu valence shows a gentle decrease from 2.53 at 6 K to 2.26 at 55 K with increasing temperature. In contrast, the Eu valence for x = 0.1, which is almost temperature-independent, reaches a nearly divalent state down to the lowest temperatures. These behaviors of the Eu valence are well-agreed with the above-mentioned experimental results.



Figure 4.10. X-ray absorption spectra at Eu L_3 -edge at various temperatures for x = 0 (a), 0.05 (b), and 0.1 (c). Green lines are fitting curves based on Eq. (4.4). Solid and dashed lines are subspectra for Eu²⁺ and Eu³⁺ at T = 6 K, respectively.



Figure 4.11. Mean Eu valence at T = 300 K plotted against Ga concentration x.



Figure 4.12. Temperature dependence of mean Eu valence for x = 0, 0.05, and 0.1.

5. Conclusion

We have measured neutron diffraction of YbPd with newly-synthesized strain-free powders and determined the magnetic structure. The obtained magnetic structure is a sinusoidal one with $k = (0.080 \ 0.32)$ in terms of the tetragonal symmetry, where the Yb³⁺ moments of ~0.3 µ_B are aligned along the *a*-axis, and Yb^{2.6+} ions have no magnetic moment. These results are consistent with the valence order structure. Moreover, the sinusoidal magnetic structure suggests that the magnetic structure is transformed into a commensurate structure at *T*₄. The neutron diffraction measurement at lower temperatures is desired to examine the ground state of the valence order of YbPd.

In the T - P phase diagram of YbPd, the phase boundary of the structural transition temperature T_1 has been determined by observing the splitting of (4 0 0) Bragg peak. With increasing pressure, T_1 decreases to 15 K at P = 4.4 GPa and disappears at P = 5.0 GPa. The powder XRD and the electrical resistivity measurements under high-pressure indicate that the cubic valence fluctuating ground state is realized above P = 5 GPa. The *T*-linear behavior of the electrical resistivity at low temperatures above 8 GPa also implies quantum criticality due to valence fluctuation. In the valence fluctuating state, no pressure-induced magnetic order is found up to 12.5 GPa and down to 0.5 K. Further measurements under higher pressure and extremely low temperature would give a deeper insight into this system.

For Eu₂Pt₆(Al_{1-x}Ga_x)15, we have studied the Ga substitution effect on the Eu valence state. The magnetic susceptibility, electrical resistivity, and X-ray absorption spectroscopy measurements reveal that Eu valence rapidly decreases with Ga substitution, and the divalent state is stabilized at $x \ge 0.1$. In the high-field magnetization measurements, field-induced valence transitions are observed at around B = 29 and 17.5 T for x = 0 and 0.05, respectively. These measurements reveal that the valence transition of Eu₂Pt₆Al₁₅ shows many similarities to the valence transition of the other Eu-based compounds with the tetragonal ThCr₂Si₂ type structure. Exploring the other Eu-based valence transition compounds is needed to clarify the universality of valence transition in Eu-based compounds.

Acknowledgment

The author appreciates Prof. H. Wada of Kyushu University for his physical guidance. I am also grateful to Dr. A. Mitsuda for his supports and fruitful discussions.

This study is done with the cooperation of many collaborators.

I wish to express special thanks to Prof. K. Ohoyama of Ibaraki University for the discussion on the magnetic structure of YbPd. I am thankful to Dr. M. Sugishima for his single-crystal neutron diffraction studies.

I am sincerely grateful to Prof. T. Ishigaki, Dr. A. Hoshikawa, Dr. T. Matsukawa of Ibaraki University Frontier Research Center for Applied Atomic Sciences, and Dr. Y. Yoshida of Japan Atomic Energy Agency for neutron diffraction of YbPd, Prof. Y. Uwatoko and Dr. J. Gouchi of ISSP for electrical resistivity measurements using their cubic anvil cell, Dr. Y. Ohishi, Dr. N. Hirao, and Dr. S. Imada Kawaguchi of JASRI for X-ray diffraction using their membrane diamond anvil cell, Prof. M. Hagiwara, Dr. Y. Narumi of AHFM of Osaka Univesity, and Prof. K. Kindo of ISSP for measurements in a pulsed magnet, and Prof. H. Wadati and Mr. R. Takahashi of the University of Hyogo, and H. Setoyama of SAGA Light Source for XAS measurements.

I would like to appreciate Prof. T. Kimura and Dr. T. Kawae of Kyushu University for their kind acceptance as the referees of my thesis.

I appreciate Mr. K. Tanabe of Physics of Magnetism Laboratory, Department of Physics. Kyushu University, for his technical advice.

I would like to acknowledge all members of the Physics of Magnetism laboratory, Department of Physics, Kyushu University, for their support and valuable comments.

Finally, I appreciate my family for their mental and financial supports.

Reference

- [1] J. Kondo, Prog. Theor. Phys. **32** (1964) 37.
- [2] A. Sumiyama, Y. Oda, H. Nagano, Y. Ōnuki, K. Shibutani, and T. Komatsubara, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 55 (1986) 1294.
- [3] M. A. Ruderman and C. Kittel, Phys. Rev. 96 (1954) 99.
- [4] T. Kasuya, Prog. Theor. Phys. 16 (1956) 45.
- [5] K. Yosida, Phys. Rev 106 (1957) 893.
- [6] S. Doniach: *in Valence Instabilities and Related Narrow Band Phenomena*, eds. R. D. Parks (Plenum, New York, 1977) p. 169.
- [7] H. Yuan, F. Grosche, M. Deppe, C. Geibel, G. Sparn, and F. Stegligh, Science 302 (2013) 2104.
- [8] G. Knebel, R. Boursier, E. Hassinger, G. Lapertot, P. G. Niklowitz, A. Pourret, B. Salce, J. P. Sanchez, I. Sheikin, and P. Bonville, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 75 (2006) 114709.
- [9] S. Nakatsuji, K. Kuga, Y. Machida, T. Tayama, T. Sakakibara, Y. Karaki, H. Ishimoto, S. Yonezawa, Y. Maeno, E. Pearson, G. G. Lonzarich, L. Balicas, H. Lee, and Z. Fisk, Nature Physics 4 (2008) 603.
- [10] G. Knebel, D. Braithwaite, P. C. Canfield, G. Lapertot, and J. Flouquet, Phys. Rev. B 65 (2001) 024425.
- [11] E. J. W. Verwey, Nature (London) 144 (1939) 327.
- [12] H. Kuwahara, Y. Tomioka, A. Asamitsu, Y. Moritomo, and Y. Tokura, Science 270 (1995) 961.
- [13] A. Ochiai, T. Suzuki, and T. Kasuya, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 59 (1990) 4129.
- [14] G. Michels, C. Huhnt, W. Scharbrodt, W. Schlabitz, E. Holland-Moritz, M.M. Abd-Elmeguid, H. Micklitz, D. Johrendt, V. Keimes, and A. Mewis, Z. Phys. B 98 (1995) 75.
- [15] T. Inami, S. Michimura, A. Mitsuda, and H. Wada, Phys. Rev. B 82 (2010) 195133.
- [16] A. Nowack, J. Klug, N. Lossau, and A. Mewis, Z. Phys. B 77 (1989) 381.
- [17] E. V. Sampathkumaran, L. C. Gupta, R. Vijayaraghavan, K. V. Gopalakrishnan, R. G. Pillay, and H. G. Devare, J. Phys. C 14 (1981) 237.
- [18] S. Patil, R. Nagarajan, L. C. Gupta, R. Vijayaraghavan, and B. D. Padalia, Solid State Commun. 63 (1987) 955.
- [19] E. Kemly, M. Croft, V. Murgai, L. C. Gupta, C. Godart, R. D. Parks, and C. U. Segre, J. Magn, Magn. Mater 47 48 (1985) 403.

- [20] C. U. Serge, M. Croft, J. A. Hodge, V. Murgai, L. C. Gupta, and R. D. Parks, Phys. Rev. Lett. 49 (1982) 1947.
- [21] H. Wada, A. Mitsuda, M. Shiga, H. A. Katori, and T. Goto, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 65 (1996) 3471.
- [22] R. Pott, W. Boksch, G. Leson, B. Politt, H. Schmidt, A. Freimuth, K. Keulerz, J. Langen, G. Neumann, F. Oster, J. Röhler, U. Walter, P. Weidner, and D. Wohlleben, Phys. Rev. Lett. 54 (1985) 481.
- [23] P. Bonville, J. Hammann, J. A. Hodges, P. Imbert, and G. J. Jéhanno, Phys. Rev. Lett. 57 (1986) 2733.
- [24] A. Mitsuda, M. Sugishima, T. Hasegawa, S. Tsutsui, M. Isobe, Y. Ueda, M. Udagawa, and H. Wada, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 82 (2013) 084712.
- [25] R. Takahashi, T. Honda, A. Miyake, T. Kagayama, K. Shimizu, T. Ebihara, T. Kimura, and Y. Wakabayashi, Phys. Rev. B 88 (2013) 054109.
- [26] I. Felner and I. Nowik, Phys. Rev. B 33 (1986) 617.
- [27] N. Kurita, M. Kano, M. Hedo, Y. Uwatoko, J. L. Sarrao, J. D. Thompson, and S. W. Tozer, Physica B 378 380 (2006) 104.
- [28] A. Mitsuda, K. Yamada, M. Sugishima, and H. Wada, Physica B: Condens. Matter 404 (2009) 3002.
- [29] A. Miyake, K. Kasano, T. kagayama, K. Shimizu, R. Takahashi, Y. Wakabayashi, T. Kimura, and T. Ebihara, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 82 (2013) 084706.
- [30] M. Sugishima, K. Yamada, A. Mitsuda, H. Wada, K. Matsubayashi, Y. Uwatoko, K. Suga, and K. Kindo, J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 22 (2010) 375601.
- [31] M. Sugishima, Doctoral thesis (2012).
- [32] M. Radzieowski, F. Stegemann, T. Block, J. Stahl, D. Johrendt, and O. Janka, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 140 (2018) 8950.
- [33] K. Yamada, private communication.
- [34] R. M. Moon, H. R. Child, W. C. Koehler, and L. J. Raubenheimer, J. Appl. Phys. 38 (1967) 1383.
- [35] T. Ishigaki, S. Harjo, M. Yonemura, T. Kamiyama, K. Aizawa, K. Oikawa, T. Sakuma, Y. Morii, M. Arai, K. Ebata, Y. Takano, and T. Kasao, Physica B 385 386 (2006) 1022.
- [36] T. Ishigaki, A. Hoshikawa, M. Yonemura, T. Morishima, T. Kamiyama, R. Oishi, K. Aizawa, T. Sakuma, Y. Tomota, M. Arai, M. Hayashi, K. Ebata, Y. Takano, K. Komatsuzaki, H. Asano, Y. Takano, and T. Kasao, Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A 600 (2009)

189.

- [37] R. Oishi, M. Yonemura, Y. Nishimaki, S. Torii, A. Hoshikawa, T. Ishigaki, T. Morishima, K. Mori, and T. Kamiyama, Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A 600 (2009) 94.
- [38] R. Oishi-Tomiyasu, M. Yonemura, T. Morishima, A. Hoshikawa, S. Torii, T. Ishigaki, and T. Kamiyama, J. Appl. Crystallogr. 45 (2012) 299.
- [39] A. S. Wills, Phys. Rev. B 63 (2001) 064430.
- [40] A. S. Wills, Physica B **276** (2000) 680.
- [41] J. Rodrígues-Caravajal, Physica B 192 (1993) 55.
- [42] U. Walter and D. Wohlleben, Phys. Rev. B 35 (1987) 3576.
- [43] Y. Tokiwa, S. Grüheit, H. S. Jeevan, C. Stingl, and P. Gegenwart, J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 273 (2011) 012062.
- [44] N. D. Mermin and H. Wagner, Phys. Rev. Lett. 17 (1966) 1133.
- [45] R. B. Griffiths, Phys. Rev. **136** (1964) A437.
- [46] M. Shiga, K. Okimura, H. Takata, A. Mitsuda, I. Maruyama, H. Wada, Y. Inagaki, and T. Kawae, Phys. Rev B 100 (2019) 245117.
- [47] F. D. Murnaghan, Finite Deformation of an Elastic Solid (Dover, New York, 1951), p. 68.
- [48] E. Bauer, R. Hauser, E. Gratz, K. Payer, G. Oomi, and T. Kagayama, Phys. Rev. B 48 (1993) 15873.
- [49] Y. H. Matsuda, T. Nakamura, J. L. Her, K. Kindo, S. Michimura, T. Inami, M. Mizumaki, N. Kawamura, M. Suzuki, B. Chen, H. Ohta, and K. Yoshimura, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 81 (2012) 015002.
- [50] O. Trovarelli, C. Geibel, C. Langhammer, S. Mederle, P. Gegenwart, F. M. Grosche, M. Lang, G. Sparn, and F. Steglich, Physica B 281 282 (2000) 372.
- [51] T. Tomita, K. Kuga, Y. Uwatoko, S. Nakatsuji, J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 592 (2015) 012019.
- [52] S. Watanabe and K. Miyake, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (2010) 186403.
- [53] C. Dallera, E. Annese, M. Grioni, G. Knebel, J. P. Sanchez, A. Barla, M. D' Astuto, and P. Giura: ESRF experimental report HE1545 (2005).
- [54] H. Wada, A. Nakamura, A. Mitsuda, M. Shiga, T. Tanaka, H. Mitamura, and T. Goto, J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 9 (1997) 7913.
- [55] S. Seiro and C. Geibel, J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 23 (2011) 375601.
- [56] A. Mitsuda, H. Wada, M. Shiga, H. A. Katori, and T. Goto, Phys. Rev. B 55 (1997) 12474.
- [57] W. D. Schnider, N. Martensson, B. Reihl, V. Murgai, L. C. Gupta, and R. D. Park, *Valence Instabilities*, eds. P. Watcher and H. Boppart (North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1982) p. 225.

- [58] A. Mitsuda, T. Fujimoto, E. Kishaba, S. Hamano, A. Kondo, K. Kindo, and H. Wada, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 85 (2016) 124703.
- [59] H. A. Katori, T. Goto, and K. Yoshimura, Physica B 201 (1994) 159.
- [60] J. L. Sarrao, Physica B **259 261** (1999) 128.
- [61] A. Mitsuda, E. Kishaba, T. Fujimoto, K. Oyama, H. Wada, M. Mizumaki, N. Kawamura, and N. Ishimatsu, Physica B 536 (2018) 427.
- [62] J. Röhler, J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 47 48 (1985) 175.